GS 013 (August 2009)

Guidance Statement GS 013 Special Considerations in the Audit of Compliance Plans of Managed Investment Schemes

Issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board



Obtaining a Copy of this Guidance Statement

This Guidance Statement is available on the AUASB website: www.auasb.gov.au.

AUASB contact details:

Auditing and Assurance Standards BoardPhone: (03) 8080 7400Level 7Fax: (03) 8080 7450600 Bourke StreetE-mail: enquiries@auasb.gov.auMelbourne Victoria 3000AUSTRALIAPostal Address:
PO Box 204

Collins Street West Melbourne Victoria 8007

AUSTRALIA

COPYRIGHT

© 2009 Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). The text, graphics and layout of this Guidance Statement are protected by Australian copyright law and the comparable law of other countries. Reproduction within Australia in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights for commercial purposes within Australia should be addressed to the Executive Director, Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, PO Box 204, Collins Street West, Melbourne Victoria 8007. Otherwise, no part of the Guidance Statement may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the AUASB except as permitted by law.

ISSN 1833-7600

GS 013

- 2 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

CONTENTS

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

| | Paragraphs |
|--|------------|
| Application | 1 |
| Issuance Date | 2 |
| Introduction | 3 |
| Legislative Background | 5 |
| Regulatory Requirements for Compliance Plans | |
| Significance of Compliance Plans to the Registration of Schemes | 6 |
| Contents of the Compliance Plan | 10 |
| Compliance Structure | 15 |
| Auditing the Compliance Plan | |
| Who May Audit the Compliance Plan? | 17 |
| Agreeing on the Terms of the Audit Engagement with the Responsible Entity | 18 |
| Clarifying the Compliance Plan Auditor's Role | |
| Role of the Responsible Entity | 21 |
| Role of the Compliance Plan Auditor | 22 |
| Inherent Limitations of Auditing Compliance with the Compliance Plan | 23 |
| Reporting on Whether the Compliance Plan "Continues to Meet" the Requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Corporations Law | 25 |
| Planning the Compliance Plan Audit | |
| Materiality | 27 |
| Other Audit Planning Considerations | 31 |
| Other Matters to be Considered During the Audit of the Compliance Plan | 34 |
| The Auditor's Report on the Compliance Plan Audit | 38 |

GS 013 - 3 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

| Conformity with International Pronouncements | 41 |
|--|----|
| Appendix 1: Example Engagement Letter for the Audit of a Managed Investment Scheme Compliance Plan | |
| Appendix 2: Example Audit Reports on Managed Investment Scheme Compliance Plans Pursuant to Section 601HG of the <i>Corporations Act 2001</i> | |
| Example 1: Unmodified Auditor's Report | |
| Example 2: Modified Auditor's Report – Qualified Audit Opinion | |

GS 013

- 4 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

The Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) issues Guidance Statement GS 013 Special Considerations in the Audit of Compliance Plans of Managed Investment Schemes pursuant to section 227B of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001, for the purposes of providing guidance on auditing and assurance matters.

This Guidance Statement is the reissuance of AGS 1052 Special Considerations in the Audit of Compliance Plans of Managed Investment Schemes (June 2002), with updated references to the Corporations Act 2001 and relevant ASIC Regulatory Guides to reflect subsequent regulatory changes affecting managed investment schemes. Further consideration of these changes will be undertaken by the AUASB as part of the future revision of this Guidance Statement.

This Guidance Statement provides guidance to assist the auditor to fulfil the objectives of the audit or assurance engagement. It includes explanatory material on specific matters for the purposes of understanding and complying with AUASB Standards. The auditor exercises professional judgement when using this Guidance Statement and needs to refer to the *ASIC Regulatory Guides* where relevant.

The Guidance Statement does not prescribe or create new mandatory Requirements.

Dated 12 August 2009

M H Kelsall Chairman - AUASB

GS 013

- 5 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

GUIDANCE STATEMENT GS 013

Special Considerations in the Audit of Compliance Plans of Managed Investment Schemes

Application

1 This Guidance Statement has been formulated by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) to provide guidance to auditors on various matters relating to the audit of compliance plans of registered managed investment schemes established in accordance with the requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* ("the Act").

Issuance Date

2 This Guidance Statement is issued on 12 August 2009 by the AUASB and replaces AGS 1052 Special Considerations in the Audit of Compliance Plans of Managed Investment Schemes which was issued in July 2002.

Introduction

- 3 The auditor of a managed investment scheme compliance plan is required to adhere to the requirements contained in the Standards on Assurance Engagements, including ASAE 3100 *Compliance Engagements.* The AUASB recognises that the audit of compliance plans may give rise to a number of special audit considerations. Accordingly, this Guidance Statement has been developed to clarify the auditor's responsibilities on such engagements, and to provide guidance to the auditor on additional factors which the auditor may consider when planning, conducting and reporting on the audit of a scheme's compliance plan.
- 4 It is important to note that this Guidance Statement does not impose any responsibilities on the auditor of a managed investment scheme compliance plan beyond those which are imposed by Standards on Assurance Engagements and the requirements of the Act. Nonetheless, the provisions of the Act in this area may be augmented by Regulatory Guides (RGs) and any modifications to the Act effected by individual orders or class orders issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC).

GS 013

- 6 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

Legislative Background

5 The managed investments regulatory regime which is administered by ASIC, is contained in Chapter 5C of the Act. Part 5C.4 of Chapter 5C specifically deals with scheme compliance plans, and *inter alia* requires that each registered scheme have in place a compliance plan to ensure compliance with the scheme's constitution and the Act.

Regulatory Requirements for Compliance Plans

Significance of Compliance Plans to the Registration of Schemes

6 Under section 601EB(1) of the Act, ASIC must register a managed investment scheme within the prescribed timeframe, unless it appears to ASIC that certain requirements of the Act as specified in that provision have not been met, including whether the scheme's compliance plan meets the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Act. Consequently, ASIC will review a scheme's compliance plan before approving a scheme's application for registration. ASIC Regulatory Guide RG 132 *Managed investments: Compliance plans* identifies the following approach which ASIC has stated it will adopt when reviewing the compliance plans of schemes prior to registration:

> **RG 132.14:** We will actively assess compliance plans when we are deciding whether or not to register a scheme under s 601EB(1). We will consider, in the context of the type of scheme, whether the responsible entity has designed measures which adequately address the risks of not complying with its obligations. For example, a responsible entity must continuously monitor, review and audit the outcomes of its compliance activities. We will therefore assess whether the responsible entity's arrangements for doing this are adequate.

7 RG 132 provides guidance to responsible entities on how to prepare a compliance plan and in particular, on the structured and systematic process which needs to be undertaken when developing such plans. Consequently, when reviewing a compliance plan for registration purposes, it is likely that ASIC considers matters outlined in RG 132 such as:

GS 013

- 7 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

- (a) the responsible entity's obligations under the Act and the scheme's constitution;
- (b) the risks to ongoing compliance, given such matters as the nature of the scheme, its operating environment, its size, and the nature of its assets;
- (c) the likelihood and potential impact of failing to achieve the outcomes intended by the Act and the scheme's constitution;
- (d) the appropriateness of the focus adopted in the compliance plan and the compliance measures in terms of stated outcomes; and
- (e) the specific requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Act.
- 8 ASIC has the authority to withhold the scheme's registration, until such time as any deficiencies in the compliance plan which it may have identified during the registration process are rectified by the responsible entity.
- 9 Section 601HE(1) of the Act enables the responsible entity to make changes to the compliance plan, to facilitate the updating of the compliance plan as circumstances change, or in the case that particular measures are found to be ineffective. Under section 601HE(2), ASIC may also require that the responsible entity make changes to the compliance plan in certain circumstances. Where modifications to the compliance plan are made or a compliance plan is repealed and replaced, the auditor ascertains that it is lodged with ASIC in accordance with the requirements of section 601HE(3).

Contents of the Compliance Plan

- 10 Section 601HA of the Act requires each registered scheme to have in place a compliance plan which sets out "adequate measures" that the responsible entity is to apply in operating the scheme to ensure compliance with the Act and the scheme's constitution.
- 11 Specific matters which are identified in section 601HA that are to be included in compliance plans include arrangements for:
 - (a) the identification and custody of scheme property;

GS 013

- 8 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

- (b) the operation and functions of the scheme's compliance committee, where required;
- (c) the valuation of scheme property;
- (d) ensuring the compliance plan is audited as required by section 601HG;
- (e) ensuring adequate records are kept of the scheme's operations; and
- (f) compliance with other matters prescribed in the regulations.
- 12 RG 132 outlines considerations which a responsible entity is to take into account when preparing compliance plans in order to satisfy the requirements of section 601HA. RG 132 also emphasises that compliance plans for each scheme are to include compliance measures which provide clear links with the requirements of the Act and the scheme's constitution. Such measures are to be set out in the compliance plan with sufficient clarity and detail to enable the responsible entity's directors and where required, the compliance committee, as well as the compliance plan auditor to assess whether the responsible entity has complied with the compliance plan and the requirements of section 601HA.
- 13 RG 45 Mortgage schemes—improving disclosure for retail investors (September 2008) and RG 46 Unlisted property schemes improving disclosure for retail investors (September 2008) expects compliance plans of the relevant schemes to contain adequate procedures to ensure disclosure against the benchmarks specified in the regulatory guides. The Act imposes various obligations on the responsible entity and its officers to ensure that the requirements of section 601HA are met. These obligations include:
 - (a) Section 601FC(1)(g) which specifically requires the responsible entity of a registered scheme to ensure that the scheme's compliance plan meets the requirements of section 601HA.
 - (b) Section 601FC(1)(h) which requires the responsible entity to comply with the scheme's compliance plan.
 - (c) Section 601JA(1) which obliges the responsible entity to establish a compliance committee, if less than half of the

GS 013

-9- GUIDANCE STATEMENT

> directors of the responsible entity are external directors. Such a committee is *inter alia* required to monitor compliance with the compliance plan and assess the adequacy of the compliance plan in accordance with section 601JC(1).

- (d) Notwithstanding the above, section 601FD(1)(f) places the onus on the officers of the responsible entity to take all steps that a reasonable person would take to ensure that the responsible entity complies with the compliance plan.
- 14 RG 132 expects the responsible entity, when preparing a compliance plan for the first time and continuously thereafter, to undertake a due diligence process to consider its responsibilities under the Act and the scheme's constitution, identify risks of non-compliance and establish measures to address those risks. ASIC has benchmarked compliance plans for schemes within various industries and provided examples of better compliance plans for those schemes in the following regulatory guides:
 - RG 116 Commentary on compliance plans: Agricultural industry schemes (April 2004).
 - RG 117 Commentary on compliance plans: Financial asset schemes (April 2004)
 - RG 118 Commentary on compliance plans: Contributory mortgage schemes (April 2004)
 - RG 119 Commentary on compliance plans: Pooled mortgage schemes (April 2004).
 - RG 120 Commentary on compliance plans: Property schemes (April 2004).

Compliance Structure

15 RG 132 sets out ASIC's expectations of responsible entities when preparing compliance plans for registered schemes to meet the requirements of the Act. As identified in RG 132, the responsible entity is expected to continuously monitor the outcomes of its compliance activities in order to satisfy the requirements of section 601HA. To enable such monitoring and assessment to occur, the responsible entity is expected to establish and maintain compliance reporting structures to prevent, and where necessary to identify and

GS 013

- 10 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

respond to breaches of its compliance plan, and to promote what ASIC has described as a "culture of compliance".

16 With regard to the above, ASIC has indicated that it expects such compliance structures to include clear procedures for recording and reporting on compliance, a complaints handling system¹, systems to identify, investigate and rectify recurring and systemic problems, and appropriately trained staff. The responsible entity is also expected to have adequate compliance measures in place for monitoring and maintaining an adequate level of control over any activities which it may outsource to external service providers.

Auditing the Compliance Plan

Who May Audit the Compliance Plan?

17 In accordance with section 601HG(1) of the Act, the responsible entity of a registered scheme is required to ensure that at all times a registered company auditor, an audit firm or an authorised audit company is engaged to audit compliance with the scheme's compliance plan. Section 601HG(2) *inter alia* prohibits the auditor of the responsible entity's financial report from also acting as the auditor of the compliance plan. However, section 601HG(2A) allows another auditor from the same firm or company to undertake the compliance plan audit of a scheme managed by the responsible entity. Furthermore, there is no prohibition on the compliance plan auditor from also performing the statutory audit of the scheme's financial report.

Agreeing on the Terms of the Audit Engagement with the Responsible Entity

18 ASAE 3100 requires the auditor of the compliance plan to agree on the terms of the compliance plan audit engagement with the responsible entity, which are required to be recorded in writing by the auditor and forwarded to the responsible entity. Such terms may be outlined in an audit engagement letter.² The auditor has regard to the requirements of ASAE 3100 relevant on agreeing the terms of

GS 013

- 11 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

See RG 139 Approval and oversight of external dispute resolution schemes. Or other suitable form of audit contract.

the assurance engagement and applies those requirements when agreeing on the terms of a compliance plan audit engagement.³

- 19 Other than matters covered by ASAE 3100, the engagement letter may also outline arrangements for liaison with the responsible entity's compliance committee (if applicable), other compliance advisors, and other auditors, including the auditor of the responsible entity's financial report and the auditor of the scheme's financial report.
- 20 The compliance plan auditor may also use the engagement letter to clarify the respective roles of the responsible entity's directors and the auditor, by contrasting the respective statutory responsibilities of the responsible entity and the compliance plan auditor under Part 5C.4 of the Act. In particular, it is important to highlight in the engagement letter the responsible entity's obligation to establish and maintain an adequate compliance plan and have in place adequate measures and structures to ensure compliance with the Act and the scheme's constitution. The auditor obtains acknowledgment of this obligation from the directors of the responsible entity when obtaining agreement on the terms of the compliance plan audit engagement. An example engagement letter illustrating such agreement is provided in Appendix 1 to this Guidance Statement.

Clarifying the Compliance Plan Auditor's Role

Role of the Responsible Entity

21 Under the Act, the responsible entity is required to ensure that the scheme has a compliance plan which meets the requirements of section 601HA. This includes that the compliance plan must set out adequate measures that the responsible entity is to apply in operating the scheme to ensure compliance with the Act and the scheme's constitution. The compliance plan, which is lodged with ASIC with the application to register as a managed investment scheme under section 601EA, must be signed by all the directors of the responsible entity under section 601HC and arrangements must be in place for the audit of the compliance plan under section 601HG. Section 601FD(1)(f) requires the directors of the responsible entity to take all steps that a reasonable person would take to ensure that the

GS 013

- 12 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

³ The procedures for agreeing the terms of an engagement relevant to a financial report audit engagement are contained in ASA 210 *Terms of Audit Engagements*, and may be helpful in determining procedures for agreeing the terms of an engagement applicable to a compliance plan audit engagement.

responsible entity complies with the Act, the scheme's constitution and the scheme's compliance plan.

Role of the Compliance Plan Auditor

- 22 The role of the compliance plan auditor under section 601HG(3) of the Act is to examine the scheme's compliance plan and carry out an audit of the responsible entity's compliance with the compliance plan for the financial year. Furthermore, the auditor of the compliance plan must give the responsible entity an audit report which states whether in the auditor's opinion:
 - (a) the responsible entity has complied with the scheme's compliance plan during the financial year; and
 - (b) the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Act.

The second part of the auditor's opinion as stated in (b) above, is to be expressed "as at" the date of the end of the financial year.⁴

Inherent Limitations of Auditing Compliance with the Compliance Plan

- 23 Due to the nature of audit testing and other inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of a compliance plan and its related compliance measures, there is a possibility that a properly planned and executed audit will not detect all deficiencies in a scheme's compliance plan. Accordingly, the audit opinion under section 601HG(3) is expressed in terms of reasonable assurance and cannot constitute a guarantee that the compliance plan is completely free from any deficiency, or that all compliance breaches have been detected.
- 24 There are also practical limitations in requiring an auditor to perform a continuous examination of the compliance plan, and form an opinion that the entity has complied at all times with the Act during the period covered by the compliance plan audit report. However, the auditor performs tests periodically throughout the financial year to obtain evidence and have reasonable assurance that the measures

⁴ As the wording in section 601HG(3)(c)(ii) is ambiguous, the AUASB believes that the expression "continues to meet" may be interpreted to mean "as at" the end of the scheme's financial year.



- 13 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

complied with the written descriptions and were adequate throughout the period under examination.

Reporting on Whether the Compliance Plan "Continues to Meet" the Requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Corporations Act

- 25 The requirements of the Act relating to reporting on whether the compliance plan "continues to meet" the requirements of Part 5C.4, including matters under section 601HA(1), are stated in broad terms. Such requirements are augmented by the examples and guidance in the Annexure to RG 132 and the additional expectation that compliance plan auditors consider whether the compliance plan is adequate to ensure compliance with the disclosure and advertising obligations of RG 45 for mortgage schemes and RG 46 for unlisted property schemes. The auditor uses such criteria to assess the appropriateness of the design of the compliance measures contained in a scheme's compliance plan.
- 26 The compliance plan auditor considers how the responsible entity has satisfied itself that the scheme's compliance plan and the measures within it continue to be appropriate throughout the financial year. The Annexure to RG 132 provides general guidance about various matters which may be considered by responsible entities when developing the scheme's compliance plan. In addition, ASIC has benchmarked compliance plans for various industry schemes and provided examples of better compliance plans for those types of schemes in RG 116, RG 117, RG 118, RG 119 and RG 120. The compliance plan auditor may also consider these matters when planning and undertaking a compliance plan audit. However, as compliance plans will vary between different responsible entities and their respective managed investment schemes, it will be necessary for the auditor to apply professional judgement when applying audit procedures and evaluating compliance plans and the design of compliance measures, having regard to the size and complexity of the particular managed investment scheme under examination.

Planning the Compliance Plan Audit

Materiality

27 The auditor considers materiality when:

GS 013

- 14 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

- (a) determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures; and
- (b) evaluating the effect of identified compliance plan breaches or weaknesses in compliance measures.
- 28 Materiality is addressed in the context of the responsible entity's compliance objectives, which are developed having regard to the protection of the interests of scheme members as a whole. Materiality considerations are therefore viewed within the context of setting out adequate measures that the responsible entity is to apply in operating the scheme to ensure compliance with the Act and the scheme's constitution. In this respect, materiality is assessed for the compliance plan of each managed investment scheme being audited, relevant to the area of activity being examined, and whether the compliance measures in the compliance plan will reduce to an acceptably low level the risks that threaten achievement of those objectives and which otherwise could adversely affect the interests of scheme members.
- 29 The auditor is expected to report significant detected breaches, which either individually or collectively, the auditor judges to be material. The guidance on the meaning and application of the concept of materiality contained in ASAE 3100 is adapted by the compliance plan auditor, as appropriate, to the task of judging adherence to the compliance plan and conformity with the relevant provisions in Part 5C.4 of the Act. However, it is not possible to give a definitive view on what may constitute a material breach of a scheme's compliance plan, other than to suggest that the auditor exercises appropriate professional judgement having regard to the responsible entity's obligations to scheme members, together with the size, complexity and nature of a scheme's activities when determining whether a breach is to be considered material.
- 30 As identified in ASAE 3100, when assessing materiality, the auditor considers qualitative factors as well as quantitative factors. The following are examples of qualitative factors that may be relevant:
 - (a) the specific requirements of the terms of the engagement;
 - (b) the significance of identified compliance plan breaches or weaknesses in compliance measures;
 - (c) the cost of alternative compliance measures relative to their likely benefit; and

GS 013

- 15 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

(d) the length of time which an identified compliance breach was in existence.

Other Audit Planning Considerations

- 31 The auditor of the compliance plan considers:
 - (a) the adequacy of the measures set out in the compliance plan;
 - (b) key responsibilities and risks identified in the compliance plan;
 - (c) processes established by the responsible entity to implement the measures outlined in the compliance plan; and
 - (d) processes established by the responsible entity to monitor adherence to the compliance plan.
- 32 When evaluating the responsible entity's adherence to the compliance plan and the ongoing adequacy of its measures, the auditor will need to obtain from management a copy of the plan and the detailed measures which it provides, together with a written description of the procedures and structures which the responsible entity has established to ensure compliance. RG 132 indicates that a scheme's compliance plan needs to describe compliance activities in sufficient detail and certainty to enable the auditor to assess whether or not the plan has been complied with. Such information will be required by the auditor when designing audit procedures to assess whether the compliance measures and systems are operating effectively and are adequately managing compliance risks.
- 33 To further assist in the audit of the compliance plan, the auditor considers various matters when planning the audit, including:
 - (a) the scheme's constitution;
 - (b) the Australian financial services licence held by the responsible entity and, in particular, any conditions imposed thereon. In this regard, the auditor may choose to examine details of the responsible entity's licence application, in particular those sections relating to the nature of the scheme's business and the compliance structure put in place by the responsible entity.

GS 013

- 16 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

- (c) the nature and extent of any recent changes to the scheme's compliance plan and whether any detected breaches are deemed to be material in light of the revised compliance plan;
- (d) the nature and extent of any changes to the operation of the scheme itself;
- (e) changes to the Act and related regulations;
- (f) reports and other documents submitted to the compliance committee and/or the board of the responsible entity regarding the operation of the scheme and its compliance functions; and
- (g) previous auditor's reports, including the auditor's report on financial reports of the responsible entity, the scheme and other schemes operated by the responsible entity, and related management letters.

Other Matters to be Considered During the Audit of the Compliance Plan

- 34 As part of the audit of the compliance plan, the auditor considers the measures in the compliance plan which relate to the responsible entity's monitoring of, and reporting on specific matters incorporated into the plan. Such a consideration may include, but is not limited to, the following matters:
 - (a) whether reporting to the board of directors or compliance committee by management on compliance matters is adequate in terms of the extent and frequency of reporting, having regard to the size and complexity of the scheme;
 - (b) whether compliance plan breaches are likely to be detected and reported by the monitoring systems that have been implemented by the responsible entity. Where breaches of compliance procedures have been detected, the auditor considers whether such breaches are material either in themselves, or where they are of a recurring nature and have not been rectified, whether their cumulative effect renders them to be a material non-compliance;
 - (c) identifying systems which the responsible entity uses to ensure that business units and staff comply with the

GS 013

- 17 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

> measures in the compliance plan on a day to day basis. It is also important for the auditor to determine whether the systems and procedures which the responsible entity has in place under its compliance plan are able to correct the effects of significant compliance breaches of which management becomes aware; and

- (d) whether the responsible entity has a process in place to identify and review the scheme's compliance risks on a periodic basis so as to ensure that its compliance plan contains "adequate" measures and that it complies with the scheme's constitution and the requirements in Part 5C.4 of the Act.
- 35 Some responsible entities may have a number of schemes with very similar compliance plans, electing (in some instances) to incorporate, into a compliance plan, the provisions of an existing compliance plan by reference. In such situations, the compliance plan auditor may choose to design and apply common audit tests and procedures across more than one scheme, as considered necessary in the circumstances. However, the compliance plan auditor ensures that the tests and procedures which are applied are representative across all schemes that incorporate the provisions of the incorporated (original) compliance plan, and that they provide sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to enable the expression of the auditor's opinion on each scheme's compliance plan as required by section 601HG(3) of the Act.

36 In addition, a responsible entity may choose to outsource various functions (e.g. information technology services or registry services) and engage external service providers. The responsible entity is expected to include measures in the compliance plan to supervise these service providers, given that the responsible entity is considered to be responsible under the Act both for the compliance of those activities which are performed by the responsible entity itself, as well as those functions which may be outsourced to external service providers.

37 In such circumstances, the compliance plan auditor audits compliance with the measures in the compliance plan relating to the supervision by the responsible entity of its service providers. However, the compliance plan auditor is not expected to conduct an audit of these service providers, as it is the obligation of the responsible entity and not the compliance plan auditor, to ensure that the service providers adhere to the responsible entity's compliance

GS 013

- 18 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

> plan for each scheme under its control. In this context, the auditor has particular regard to matters raised in ASA 402 Audit Considerations Relating to Entities Using Service Organisations and GS 007 Audit Implications of the Use of Service Organisations for Investment Management Services.

The Auditor's Report on the Compliance Plan Audit

- 38 Prior to issuing the auditor's report on the compliance plan audit, the auditor seeks a written representation from the directors of the responsible entity which contains their assertions that the responsible entity has complied with the scheme's compliance plan during the financial year, and that the plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Act.
- 39 Section 601HG(3) requires the auditor to give their auditor's report to the current responsible entity, therefore the auditor's report is addressed to the scheme's responsible entity. In addition, section 601HG(7) requires the responsible entity to lodge the auditor's report with ASIC at the same time as the financial statements and reports of the scheme are lodged with ASIC.
- 40 When reporting on the matters required by section 601HG(3), the auditor follows the requirements contained in ASAE 3100. If the auditor is required to modify the auditor's report because of a material breach of the compliance plan or because of some ongoing material weakness in compliance measures, the auditor applies the requirements in ASAE 3100 when drafting the modified auditor's report. Examples of auditor's reports that may be appropriate for this type of engagement are included in Appendix 2 to this Guidance Statement.

Conformity with International Pronouncements

41 There is no equivalent International Auditing Practice Statement (IAPS) to this Guidance Statement.

GS 013

- 19 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

Appendix 1

EXAMPLE ENGAGEMENT LETTER FOR THE AUDIT OF A MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME COMPLIANCE PLAN

To the Board of Directors⁵ of [name of responsible entity]:

Scope

You have requested that we audit the compliance plan of the [name of managed investment scheme] ("the scheme")⁶, for which [name of responsible entity] acts as its responsible entity in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5C of the *Corporations Act 2001*. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this engagement by means of this letter. Our audit will be conducted pursuant to section 601HG of the *Corporations Act 2001* with the objective of our expressing an opinion on:

- (a) compliance by the responsible entity with the scheme's compliance plan during the financial year ended 30 June 20XX; and
- (b) whether the compliance plan of the scheme continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the *Corporations Act 2001* as at 30 June 20XX.

We will conduct our audit in accordance with Standards on Assurance Engagements. Those Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the responsible entity has complied with the compliance plan and the compliance plan meets the requirements of the Act in all material respects. The audit will involve performing audit procedures to obtain an understanding of the compliance plan and the compliance measures which have been operated by the responsible entity under that plan. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement and the auditor's assessment of the risks of noncompliance with the plan.

Because of the test nature and other inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of a compliance plan and the measures contained within it, there is an unavoidable risk that even some material breaches of the compliance plan or inadequacies in the plan's measures may remain undiscovered. However, we expect to provide you with a separate letter

GS 013

- 20 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

⁵ Or Chairman/Managing Director.

⁶ Or other suitable description e.g. "the fund".

concerning any material weaknesses in the scheme's compliance plan or breaches thereof, that come to our attention during the audit of the scheme's compliance plan.

We take this opportunity to remind you that the responsibility for ensuring compliance with the scheme's compliance plan and that the scheme's plan meets the requirements of section 601HA of the *Corporations Act 2001* is that of [the directors] of [name of responsible entity]. Our auditor's report will explain that [the directors] are responsible for the adequacy of the measures in the scheme's compliance plan to ensure compliance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the scheme's constitution and for compliance with the measures and structures described in the compliance plan.

As part of our audit process, we will request from management written confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the audit.

Liaison with Compliance Committee⁷

We understand that the responsible entity has established a compliance committee to monitor compliance with the scheme's compliance plan. We will accordingly, unless requested otherwise by you, liaise directly with the scheme's compliance committee in respect of matters pertaining to our audit of the scheme's compliance plan. In the first instance however, we will address all reports and correspondence to the Board of Directors⁸ of the [name of responsible entity].

Internal Audit Function⁹

As a component of the compliance measures established by the responsible entity, the internal audit function may be relevant in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures. In view of this, it is our intention to evaluate the internal audit function in so far as we believe it may be relevant to our audit of the compliance plan, and liaise closely with the internal auditor and to agree certain areas where we may use the internal auditor's work.

Where we intend to use the work carried out by the internal audit function, we will evaluate and review the work performed and carry out such tests and other procedures as we consider necessary.

GS 013

GUIDANCE STATEMENT - 21 -

Omit if not applicable. Or Chairman/Managing Director. Omit if not applicable.

Liaison with Other Auditors¹⁰

It is our understanding that [name of firm] has been appointed under the *Corporations Act 2001* as the external auditor of the responsible entity's financial report. We also understand that [name of firm] has been appointed to perform the statutory audit of the scheme's financial report. It may be necessary from time to time, for us to communicate with [name(s) of firm(s)] on matters relevant to our audit of the compliance plan, and similarly, for [name(s) of firm(s)] to make enquiries of us in the context of their audits. Unless otherwise stated, the return of a signed copy of this engagement letter will be acknowledged as your approval for us to communicate with [name(s) of firm(s)] in respect of such matters involving the scheme and the responsible entity.

Changes to the Compliance Plan

As you may be aware, section 601HE(1) of the Act enables a responsible entity to make modifications to a compliance plan, or repeal it and replace it with a new compliance plan. Accordingly, as directors of the responsible entity, we would ask that you note your responsibilities in this regard, and ensure that where any modifications are made to the compliance plan or a compliance plan is repealed and replaced, that the modifications or the new compliance plan are lodged with ASIC within the prescribed period. Furthermore, in order to facilitate the planning of the audit, we request that you ensure that we are advised of any changes to the compliance plan on a timely basis.

Other Matters

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, we currently are eligible under Section 601HG of the *Corporations Act 2001* to audit the scheme's compliance plan. In conducting our audit of the compliance plan, should we become aware that we are not eligible to act as auditor of the compliance plan under the *Corporations Act 2001*, we shall notify you on a timely basis.

The *Corporations Act 2001* includes specific restrictions on the relationships that can exist between the responsible entity and the auditors of the scheme's compliance plan. To assist us in meeting the eligibility requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001*, and to the extent permitted by law and regulation, we request you discuss with us the provision of services offered to you by [insert auditor's firm name] prior to engaging or accepting the service.

GS 013

- 22 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

¹⁰ Omit if not applicable.

Fees

We look forward to full co-operation with your staff and we trust that they will make available to us whatever records, documentation and other information we request in connection with our audit.

[Insert additional information here regarding fee arrangements and billings, as appropriate.]

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement.

Yours faithfully,

(signed)

[Auditor's name]

[Date]

Acknowledged on behalf of [name of responsible entity] by:

.....

[Name and Title] []

[Date]

GS 013

- 23 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

APPENDIX 2

EXAMPLE AUDIT REPORTS ON MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME COMPLIANCE PLANS PURSUANT TO SECTION 601HG OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

Example 1: Unmodified Auditor's Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Directors of [name of responsible entity]:

We have audited the compliance plan of [name of managed investment scheme] which was established by [name of responsible entity] as the responsible entity for the scheme¹¹ for the financial year ended [date]. The compliance plan was approved by the directors of the responsible entity on [date] and lodged with the Australian Securities and Investment Commission on [date].

Directors' Responsibility for the Compliance Plan

The directors of the responsible entity are responsible for ensuring that the scheme's compliance plan meets the requirements of Section 601HA of the Corporations Act 2001, including that it sets out adequate measures that the responsible entity is to apply in operating the scheme to ensure compliance with the *Corporations Act 2001* and the scheme's constitution, and for complying with the compliance plan. These responsibilities are set out in Part 5C.2 of the *Corporations Act 2001*.¹²

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the responsible entity complied with the compliance plan during the financial year ended 30 June 20XX and the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Corporations Act 2001 as at that date, in all material respects. We conducted our audit in accordance with Standards on Assurance Engagements. These Standards on Assurance Engagements require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements and plan and perform the engagement to obtain

GS 013

GUIDANCE STATEMENT - 24 -

¹¹ 12

Or other suitable description e.g. "the fund". The auditor is encouraged to obtain a statement (or letter of representation) signed by the directors of the responsible entity which affirms these responsibilities.

reasonable assurance that the responsible entity complied with the compliance plan and the plan met the requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001*. Our procedures included obtaining an understanding of the compliance plan and the measures which it contains and examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the operation of these measures. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the responsible entity has complied with the compliance plan during the financial year ended 30 June 20XX, and the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the *Corporations Act 2001* as at that date.

Use of Report

This audit report has been prepared for [name of responsible entity] as the responsible entity of [name of scheme] in accordance with section 601HG of the *Corporations Act 2001*. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this report to any persons or users other than the [intended users] of the responsible entity, or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared.

Inherent Limitations

Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance measures, as documented in the compliance plan, it is possible that fraud, error, or noncompliance with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected. An audit is not designed to detect all weaknesses in a compliance plan and the measures in the plan, as an audit is not performed continuously throughout the financial year and the audit procedures performed on the compliance plan and measures are undertaken on a test basis.

Any projection of the evaluation of the compliance plan to future periods is subject to the risk that the compliance measures in the plan may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or circumstances, or that the degree of compliance with them may deteriorate.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Audit Opinion

In my opinion, in all material respects:

(a) [name of responsible entity] has complied with the compliance plan of [name of scheme] for the financial year ended 30 June 20XX; and

GS 013

- 25 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

(b) the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the *Corporations Act 2001* as at that date.

[Auditor's signature]

[Date of the auditor's report]

[Auditor's address]

GS 013

- 26 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

Example 2: Modified Auditor's Report – Qualified Audit Opiniôn

The following example is to be used as a guide only and is not intended to suggest standard wording for the circumstances of particular modifications giving rise to a qualified opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Directors of [name of responsible entity]:

We have audited the compliance plan of [name of managed investment scheme] which was established by [name of responsible entity] as the responsible entity for the scheme¹³ for the financial year ended [date]. The compliance plan was approved by the directors of the responsible entity on [date] and lodged with the Australian Securities and Investment Commission on [date].

Directors' Responsibility for the Compliance Plan

The directors of the responsible entity are responsible for ensuring that the scheme's compliance plan meets the requirements of Section 601HA of the Corporations Act 2001, including that it sets out adequate measures that the responsible entity is to apply in operating the scheme to ensure compliance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the scheme's constitution, and for complying with the compliance plan. These responsibilities are set out in Part 5C.2 of the Corporations Act 2001.¹⁴

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the responsible entity complied with the compliance plan during the financial year ended 30 June 20XX and the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the Corporations Act 2001 as at that date, in all material respects. We conducted our audit in accordance with Standards on Assurance Engagements. These Standards on Assurance Engagements require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements and plan and perform the engagement to obtain reasonable assurance that the responsible entity complied with the compliance plan and the plan met the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. Our procedures included obtaining an understanding of the compliance plan and the measures which it contains and examining, on a test

GS 013

GUIDANCE STATEMENT - 27 -

¹³

Or other suitable description e.g. "the fund". The auditor is encouraged to obtain a statement (or letter of representation) signed by the directors of the responsible entity which affirms these responsibilities.

basis, evidence supporting the operation of these measures. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the responsible entity has complied with the compliance plan during the financial year ended 30 June 20XX, and the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the *Corporations Act 2001* as at that date.

Use of Report

This audit report has been prepared for [name of responsible entity] as the responsible entity of [name of scheme] in accordance with section 601HG of the *Corporations Act 2001*. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this report to any persons or users other than the [intended users] of the responsible entity, or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared.

Inherent Limitations

Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance measures, as documented in the compliance plan, it is possible that fraud, error, or noncompliance with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected. An audit is not designed to detect all weaknesses in a compliance plan and the measures in the plan, as an audit is not performed continuously throughout the financial year and the audit procedures performed on the compliance plan and measures are undertaken on a test basis.

Any projection of the evaluation of the compliance plan to future periods is subject to the risk that the compliance measures in the plan may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or circumstances, or that the degree of compliance with them may deteriorate.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Basis for Qualified Auditor's Opinion

Our audit of the compliance plan has identified instances of material noncompliance with measures in the compliance plan relating to [describe area of scheme operations]. The effect of this breach is that [describe effect].

Furthermore, our audit has identified that the measures in the compliance plan designed to meet the requirement to [describe and identify requirement in the *Corporations Act 2001*] were not effective because of [give reasons]. We are therefore unable to provide reasonable assurance in relation to the appropriateness of the design of these compliance plan measures throughout

GS 013

- 28 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

the financial year. While steps have been taken to overcome this matter by [give details], the revised compliance plan measures have not been in place for a sufficient period of time for us to be able to fully assess their effectiveness.

Qualified Auditor's Opinion

In our opinion, except for the matters referred to in the basis for qualified auditor's opinion section, in all material respects:

- (a) [name of responsible entity] has complied with the compliance plan of [name of scheme] for the financial year ended 30 June 20XX; and
- (b) the compliance plan continues to meet the requirements of Part 5C.4 of the *Corporations Act 2001* as at that date.

[Auditor's signature]

[Date of the auditor's report]

[Auditor's address]

GS 013

- 29 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT